Page 1 of 79

FILED 11-10-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### No. 2020-AP-1052

## In the Wisconsin Court of Appeals District II

EDWARD A. VANDERVENTER, JR. AND SUSAN J. VANDERVENTER, Plaintiffs-Respondents,

- 🌢 –

v.

HYUNDAI MOTOR AMERICA AND HYUNDAI MOTOR COMPANY, Defendants-Appellants,

#### KAYLA M. SCHWARTZ AND COMMON GROUND HEALTHCARE COOPERATIVE, Defendants.

On Appeal from the Racine County Circuit Court, The Honorable Eugene Gasiorkiewicz, Presiding Case No. 16-CV-1096

### **OPENING BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS HYUNDAI MOTOR AMERICA AND HYUNDAI MOTOR COMPANY**

♦—

**♦**\_\_\_\_\_

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The circuit court allowed a tsunami of expert junk science and improper, inflammatory fact evidence to flood this automobile product liability case, which seriously prejudiced Hyundai. The predictable result? An eye-popping \$38 million verdict that cannot stand.

For starters, the circuit court failed to fulfill its critical gatekeeping function under *Daubert*. The experts for Plaintiffs Edward and Susan Vanderventer concocted a first-of-its-kind theory on how two prongs in the headrest of the driver's seat of Plaintiffs' Hyundai Elantra caused Mr. Vanderventer's broken spine. That prong design is common in the industry, with no history of problems and with extensive crash testing to prove its safety. Plaintiffs' seat-design expert offered no testing of the same type of seat, no real-world accident history, no scientific literature, nor any other indicia of reliability to support his novel opinion that the Elantra was defective and negligently designed due to the alleged problem with the prongs. The court also allowed a treating physician to opine that the prongs caused Mr. Vanderventer's injury, even though the physician did not know how Mr. Vanderventer's body moved during the accident, could

Page 10 of 79

not quantify the physical forces or distances at play, and had no supporting testing or scientific studies.

Beyond failing to perform its gatekeeping role to exclude unreliable expert testimony, the circuit court also misinterpreted and misapplied multiple Wisconsin evidentiary statutes. These failures allowed Plaintiffs to bolster their unprecedented and unfounded design-defect theory by (1) portraying Hyundai as a dangerous manufacturer based on evidence that Hyundai and another manufacturer had issued 85 product recalls over 30 years, even though none of those recalls related to the Elantra's driver's seat, (2) characterizing the design of the driver's seat as a dangerous outlier based on impermissible evidence of a purported subsequent remedial measure, and (3) presenting expert opinions that Hyundai heard for the first time at trial.

Had the circuit court properly excluded unreliable expert opinion testimony, Plaintiffs' claims would have failed for lack of proof on essential elements. In light of this evidentiary insufficiency, this Court should reverse and order that the jury's answers be changed. But even if those *Daubert* errors had not occurred, there would have to be a new trial due to the other evidentiary errors.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

 Did Plaintiffs fail to offer sufficient expert evidence on the issues of defective product/negligent design and/or specific causation because the expert testimony on those issues failed to satisfy Wis. Stat. § 907.02's *Daubert* standard?

The circuit court gave a "No" answer to this question.

2. Did the circuit court err in failing to order a new trial due to the erroneous admission of the following evidence, all of which seriously prejudiced Hyundai:

- a. Evidence of 85 recalls not involving the product at issue, purportedly to rebut the presumption in Wis. Stat. §
  895.047(3)(b) that a product that complies with federal safety standards is not defective?
- b. Evidence of a purported subsequent remedial measure,
  based upon the circuit court's view that such evidence
  could be admitted (i) under Wis. Stat. § 904.07 to impeach
  Hyundai's general defense of the case; and (ii) under Wis.
  Stat. § 895.047(4) as evidence of a reasonable alternative
  design that existed at the time the product at issue was

sold, even though there was no evidence that such a design existed at that time?

c. Critical expert opinions that had not been disclosed to Hyundai before trial, notwithstanding the requirement in Wis. Stat. § 804.01 entitling a party to "discover facts known and opinions held by an expert[?]"

The circuit court gave a "No" answer to this question and each of its subparts.

#### **ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION**

Hyundai respectfully requests oral argument and publication of the Court's opinion. This appeal raises significant questions about (a) the standard for assessing reliability of scientific expert testimony under Wis. Stat. § 907.02; (b) the type of evidence that is relevant to rebut the rebuttable presumption under Wis. Stat. § 895.047(3)(b) that a product that complies with federal safety standards is not defective; (c) the scope of the impeachment exception to the prohibition on admission of subsequentremedial-measures evidence in negligence cases contained in Wis. Stat. § 904.07; and (d) the meaning of the term "reasonable alternative design" in the exception to the prohibition on admission of subsequent-remedial-

measures evidence in strict liability cases contained in Wis. Stat. § 895.047(4). These are substantial issues. The Court will benefit from oral argument concerning them, and the Bar will benefit from a published opinion analyzing them.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In determining whether the circuit court properly exercised its gatekeeping function under *Daubert*, the Court "examine[s] the circuit court's rulings both independently as a question of law and also under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard." *Seifert v. Balink*, 2017 WI 2, ¶ 88, 372 Wis. 2d 525, 888 N.W.2d 816. The Court "decides whether the circuit court applied the proper legal standard under Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1) in the first instance independently of the circuit court ... but benefiting from [its] analys[i]s." *Id.*, ¶ 89. (citations omitted). "Once satisfied that the circuit court applied the appropriate legal framework, an appellate court reviews whether the circuit court property exercised its discretion in determining which factors should be considered in assessing reliability, and in applying the reliability standard to determine whether to admit or exclude evidence under Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1)." *Id.*, ¶ 90.

While an abuse-of-discretion standard typically applies to evidentiary issues, "not all evidentiary rulings ... are discretionary." *Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co. v. Olson*, 2016 WI App 14, ¶ 20, 366 Wis. 2d 720, 875 N.W.2d 649. "Rather, 'if an evidentiary issue requires construction or application of a statute to a set of facts, a question of law is presented' and [an appellate court] review[s] that question of law de novo." *Id.* (citation omitted). In admitting evidence of unrelated product recalls and subsequent remedial measures, the circuit court misinterpreted the relevant statutes, so the *de novo* standard applies to those issues.

This Court orders a new trial if an "error 'affected the substantial rights of the party"—*i.e.*, where there is a "reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the outcome of the action." *Weborg v. Jenny*, 2012 WI 67, ¶ 68 341 Wis. 2d 688, 816 N.W.2d 191. The prevailing party, "as the beneficiary of the error," must show that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jones v. State*, 226 Wis. 2d 565, ¶ 63, 594 N.W.2d 738 (1999).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the case

This is an appeal from a judgment against Hyundai Motor America and Hyundai Motor Company (collectively, "Hyundai") on Plaintiffs' strict-liability and negligent-design claims. R.1589;R.1599; A-App.799-803.

#### **B.** Statement of the facts

#### 1. The accident

On July 31, 2015, Plaintiffs were slowing to make a left turn in their 2013 Hyundai Elantra (the "Elantra") when Defendant Kayla Schwartz, a teenage driver, crashed into the Elantra from behind at about 40 mph. R.1771:23;R.1767:129; A-App.1681,2303. The entire crash lasted .13-.16 seconds. R.1763:144-45;R.1767:119; A-App.1246-47,1671.

Post-accident pictures of the Elantra show that the rear section deformed as intended, allowing the passenger compartment to remain virtually intact:



R.653:3; A-App.68.



```
R.653:8; A-App.73.
```

Mr. Vanderventer was driving the Elantra. The three passengers walked away from the crash uninjured or with only minor injuries.

R.1787:185; A-App.3378. As a result of the crash, Mr. Vanderventer suffered a broken spine, which resulted in paraplegia. R.1763:56-57;R.1787:185; A-App.1158-57,3219.

#### 2. Mr. Vanderventer's degenerative spine disease

Unlike the three passengers, Mr. Vanderventer had an undiagnosed degenerative spine disease, known as diffuse idiopathic skeletal hyperostosis ("DISH"). R.1770:147,150,160-62; A-App.2183,2186,2196-98. As a result of DISH, 21 of the 24 vertebrae in Mr. Vanderventer's back had been "fused," "bridged," or "cemented" together by "bony calcifications." R.1770:150-57;R.1773:58-59; A-App.2186-93,2597-98. Below on the right is a photograph of a 3-D printed model of his spine generated from post-accident scans:



R.1438:6; A-App.324.

DISH makes the spine "brittle" and "susceptible to fracture in unusual locations" and in "more places than a person without DISH." R.1787:103-106; A-App.3296-98.

In the accident, Mr. Vanderventer sustained a fracture to the T5-T6 vertebrae. R.1770:179; A-App.2215.



```
R.1439:5; A-App.335.
```

# **3.** The Elantra's seat and its compliance with federal safety standards

From approximately 2007-2010, Hyundai engineers worked on a

project to improve vehicle-seat safety, which resulted in a prototype

structure known as the "common seat frame." R.1768:48,73-79;R.1338; A-

App.1745,1770-76,313-18.

Hyundai incorporated elements of that common seat frame into the Elantra's seat design, including the headrest.<sup>1</sup> R.1768:78-79; A-App.1775-76. The development of this version of the Elantra took more than four years and involved thousands of crash- and sled-tests.<sup>2</sup> R.1768:14-18,32-

33; A-App.1711-15,1729-30.

The Elantra complied with all applicable federal motor vehicle

safety standards. R.1769:145-50; A-App.1998-2003.

#### 4. Plaintiffs' novel design-defect theory

This case involves a first-of-its-kind design-defect theory.

R.1763:201,210-14; R.1771:183-84; R.1773:207; A-App.1303, 131216, 2463-

64,2746.

Almost universally, vehicle-seat litigation concerning rear collisions

involves allegations that the seat collapsed because it was too weak. Dr.

Saczalski, Plaintiffs' seat-design expert, acknowledged that he has offered

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hyundai has manufactured cars called Elantras since 1990, although there have been several completely different designs or "platforms." R.1761:104-05; A-App.1078-79. Hyundai manufactured the Elantra at issue here—*i.e.*, the "UD platform"—from 2011 to 2016. R.1761:82-83; A-App.1056-57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A crash-test involves a simulated crash of a full car to test safety, while a sled-test involves a simulated crash of a partial car that is situated on a "sled" to test the safety of certain component parts. R.1768:28-29;R.1769:165; A-App.1725-26,2018.

testimony for decades in many such cases, opining about alleged defects ranging from weakness with a seat's recliner mechanism to problems with the tracks that attach a seat to the floor. R.1763:195-99;R.1765:129-34; A-App.1297-1301,1474-80. But the theory here was entirely novel.

These pictures of Mr. Vanderventer's actual seat provide a helpful start to understanding this first-of-its-kind theory:



R.1784;R.1785.

Plaintiffs asserted that the bottom ends of the prongs in the driver's seat headrest caused the spinal fracture. R.1761:26; A-App.1000. According to Saczalski, the force of Mr. Vanderventer's head caused the headrest to push and rotate rearward, pivoting around the horizontal crossbar near the top of the seatback. R.1787:185-194;R.1763:189; A-App.1291,3378-87. Attached to that crossbar are the two cylindrical tubes

Page 22 of 79

into which the headrest prongs are inserted, and which allow the headrest to slide up and down. R.1787:239-40; A-App.3432-33. Under Saczalski's theory, as the headrest pivoted rearward (pushed by Mr. Vanderventer's head), a supposed weakness in the crossbar permitted the prongs to pivot forward, fracturing his spine. R.1763:22;R.1787:259; A-App.1124,3452. Finally, Saczalski alleged that the force of Mr. Vanderventer's back against the bottom of the prongs caused the headrest to eject out of the cylindrical housing into the backseat. R.1761:29-30;R.1787:240-241; A-App.1003-04,3433-34. Although post-accident measurements of the tubes showed that the prongs had moved forward only slightly (merely 4 degrees from directly even with the seat), Plaintiffs' expert contends that the tubes temporarily moved much farther forward during the accident, which enabled the prongs to cause the injury. R.1765:103-11; A-App.1448-56.

This was the theory notwithstanding the following: there was no bruising or soft-tissue injury where the prongs supposedly pressed into Mr. Vanderventer's back (R.1770:175-77;R.1773:86-89; R.1787:141-43; A-App.2211-13,2625-28,3334-36); the prongs were 5 inches apart from one another and did not line up with his spine (R.1773:86-89;R.1787:124-25,127-28; A-App.2625-28,3317-18,3320-21); there were approximately 2

inches of foam padding in the seat between the prongs and his back (R.1765:113;R.1787:64; A-App.1458,3257); and there was about 2 inches of fat in his back between his spine and the seat (R.1765:113; A-App.1458).

Plaintiffs relied principally on testimony from two experts: Drs. Saczalski (the seat-design expert) and Kurpad, who was Mr. Vanderventer's post-accident treating physician. R.1763:194-97;R.1787:26; A-App.1296-99,3219. Saczalski opined that the driver's seat was defective and negligently designed. R.1763:22-23,34-36;R.1787:184-94,262; A-App.1124-25,1136-38,3377-87,3455. Kurpad and Saczalski both opined that the prongs caused the injury. R.1763:35,134;R.1787:134; A-App.1137,1236,3327.

On the other hand, Hyundai's experts opined that the alleged injury mechanism was impossible given the undisputed kinematics of vehicle occupants. R.1770:171-73,178-180;R.1771:176-85;R.1773:117-21; A-App.2207-09,2214-16,2456-65,2656-60. Given the infinitesimal time involved in a car crash, and the reality that the back of the head is the last part of an occupant's body to contact the seat (and the first to rebound from the seat), Hyundai's experts concluded that Mr. Vanderventer's head could

Page 24 of 79

not have impacted the headrest with sufficient force and in sufficient time for the prongs to pivot forward and cause the fracture. R.1770:171-73,178-180;R.1771:160-65,176-81;R.1773:113-15; A-App.2207-09,2214-16,2440-45,2456-61,2652-54. And Hyundai's engineers testified that in thousands of crash- and sled-tests of the subject seat design, they had never seen this alleged injury mechanism occur. R.1769:59-62; A-App.1912-15.

Hyundai's experts explained that in a rear-impact crash sequence, a healthy spine, which is normally S-shaped, straightens out as the forces from the crash affect the spine, thereby avoiding serious injury. R.1773:52-61,80-81; A-App.2591-600,2619-20. Mr. Vanderventer suffered his fracture because his DISH made it impossible for his spine to straighten in the normal manner. R.1770:179-80;R.1773:118-21; A-App.2215-17,2657-60.

# 5. The Elantra's safety record, and cars with other similar seat designs

There is no evidence of any other incident or injury anywhere in the world involving the Elantra's headrest prongs. R.1763:201,210-

14;R.1769:59-62; A-App.1303,1312-16,1912-15.

Other cars use similar seat designs. R.1771:175-76; A-App.2455-56. Saczalski testified at trial that such designs were "popular."

R.1763:207; A-App.1309. Indeed, the jury saw evidence that Honda and

Nissan used similar designs in their small vehicles:



## 2013 Nissan Sentra

2013 Honda Civic



### Vanderventer's seat



R.1785;R.1786. There is no evidence of any similar incident or injury involving those cars either. R.1763:201,210-14;R.1771:183-84;R.1773:207; A-App.1303,1312-16,2463-64,2746.

#### C. Procedural history

The Vanderventers sued in April 2016. R.1. They later settled with Ms. Schwartz and her insurer for \$1.4 million. R.319:161-62; A-App.1-2. While Ms. Schwartz remained a defendant in the case pursuant to a *Pierrenger* release, she did not put on a defense at trial. *Id*.

The trial against Hyundai occurred in early 2020 on the Vanderventers' strict-liability and negligent-design claims.

Page 27 of 79

Before and during trial, Hyundai challenged the admissibility of Kurpad's and Saczalski's opinions under the *Daubert* standard. R.323:13-14;R.329;R.922;R.1757:156-60;R.1767:3-5;R.1765:144-45;R.1767:3-5; A-App.15-16,26-38,84-97,959-63;1489-90,1555-57. The circuit court denied those motions. R.533;R.1757:160;R.1765:147-50;R.1767:6-15; A-App.47-60,963,1492-95,1558-67.

Hyundai also moved in limine to exclude as irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial evidence of product recalls that did not pertain to the Elantra's driver's seat. R.325;R.1757:142-45; A-App.21-25,945-48. The circuit court denied that motion. R.533:9;R.1757:147-51; A-App.56,950-54. When the court took judicial notice during trial of 85 such unrelated recalls, the court overruled Hyundai's objection. R.1766:4-11;R.1767:19-20,65,84-85; A-App.1541-48,1571-72,1617,1636-37.

After Plaintiffs' counsel discussed at length in his opening statement the seat design in a later Elantra model, Hyundai moved to exclude such subsequent-remedial-measure evidence under Wis. Stat. § 904.07 and Wis. Stat. § 895.047(4). R.640;R.1787:155-68; A-App.61-65,3348-61. The court denied that motion and granted Hyundai a continuing objection. R.1787:168-70; A-App.3361-63.

Page 28 of 79

Hyundai also challenged the sufficiency of the evidence. In a motion to dismiss at the close of Plaintiffs' case (R.1043; A-App.98-108), and for a directed verdict at the close of all evidence (R.1450; A-App.339-66), Hyundai argued that Plaintiffs had not supported their claims with admissible expert evidence. The court denied those motions. R.1775:2-37; A-App.2856-91.

In its verdict, the jury attributed 84% of Plaintiffs' damages to the "enhanced injury" purportedly caused by a defect related to the headrest "prongs," and 16% to Ms. Schwartz's negligence in causing the accident. R.1485; A-App.367-69. The jury found Hyundai liable to Plaintiffs for more than \$32 million in compensatory damages. *Id*.

Hyundai timely filed post-trial motions, including a motion to change the jury's answers based on the inadmissibility of the expert evidence. R.1489:9-43;R.1491; A-App.378-412,495-96. Hyundai also moved for a new trial, arguing that the circuit court made several legal errors that prejudiced Hyundai—including the court's rulings on unrelated product recalls, subsequent-remedial-measure evidence, and undisclosed expert opinions. R.1489:35-39,60-76;R.1491; A-App.404-09,429-45,495-96. The court denied each of Hyundai's motions. R.1588; A-App.796-98.

The circuit court entered judgment on May 13, 2020 (R.1589; A-App.799-800), and Hyundai timely noticed this appeal on June 17, 2020 (R.1599; A-App.801-03).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse and order a change in the jury's answers based on Plaintiffs' failure to present legally sufficient expert evidence on the issues of defective product/negligent design and specific causation.

The circuit court failed to properly exercise its gatekeeping function under *Daubert* by allowing Saczalski to testify about his novel theory concerning the Elantra's headrest prongs. The court erred as a matter of law by undertaking only a cursory analysis of the reliability of Saczalski's opinion. Furthermore, the court could not have reasonably concluded that the opinion was reliable. Given the novelty of the opinion—which finds no support in either real-world experience or scientific literature—the need for testing was of paramount importance. But Saczalski performed no test on the seat at issue, even though he acknowledged that would have been his customary practice. Nor did he offer any other relevant test or other basis from which the court could have deemed his opinion reliable.

Page 30 of 79

The circuit court made a similar *Daubert* error in allowing Kurpad and Saczalski to testify that the prongs caused Mr. Vanderventer's injury. Kurpad may have been able to offer some other opinions based on his treatment of Mr. Vanderventer and his general experience as a neurosurgeon. But Kurpad strayed into the distinct field of biomechanics to opine that the prongs caused the injury. The court erred as a matter of law in failing to apply the proper legal framework to determine whether Kurpad could reliably offer that opinion. Furthermore, the court could not have reasonably found the opinion to be reliable. The record shows that Kurpad employed no reliable methodology in reaching the opinion.

To make matters worse, the circuit court permitted Saczalski to offer a specific causation opinion even he admitted he was unqualified to give. And he did so in the absence of any indicia of reliability.

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