FILED
12-15-2022
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

Appeal No. 2020AP001052

EDWARD A. VANDERVENTER, JR. and SUSAN J. VANDERVENTER, Plaintiffs-Respondents,

V

HYUNDAI MOTOR AMERICA and HYUNDAI MOTOR COMPANY, Defendants-Appellants-Petitioners,

KAYLA M. SCHWARTZ and COMMON GROUND HEALTHCARE COOPERATIVE,

Defendants.

PLAINTIFFS-RESPONDENTS' BRIEF IN RESPONSE TO BRIEFS OF AMICUS PARTIES, WASHINGTON LEGAL FOUNDATION ("WLF"), AMERICAN TORT REFORM ASSOCIATION ("ATRA") ALLIANCE FOR AUTOMOTIVE INNOVATION ("AAI"), PRODUCT LIABILITY ADVISORY COUNCIL ("PLAC"), FCA, CHAMBER OF COMMERCE ET AL ("CHAMBER"), AND THE WISCONSIN LEGISLATURE

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

ARGUMENT

The amicus briefs from various groups that Hyundai is a member of or aligned with, WLF, ATRA, AAI, PLAC, FCA, and the Chamber, add nothing of substance to the issue of whether the Court should grant review. These submissions are little more than hyperbolic position statements supporting Hyundai, which are of little value to assessing this lengthy record to determine if any significant issue exists meriting review: "Courts value submissions not to see how the interest groups line up, but to learn about facts and legal perspectives that the litigants have not adequately developed." *Sierra Club, Inc. v. E.P.A.*, 358 F.3d 516, 518 (7th Cir. 2004).

As explained by Judge Neal Nettesheim and Clare Ryan, *Friend of the Court Briefs: What the Curiae Wants in an Amicus*, Wisconsin Lawyer (March 31, 2008), amicus briefs are avaluable aid to a court presented with issues that are novel, technical, or complex or that will have far-reaching effect. This case has no such issues. Rather, as discussed in Vanderventer's response to Hyundai's petition for review, it involves only mine-run evidentiary issues.

These amicus parties apparently have a joint strategy to over dramatize and transform run-of-the-mill evidentiary decisions into political theater. The claimed evidentiary errors have been thoroughly vetted and no significant legal precedent arises from this case. The unanimous court of appeals panel, including a judge specially appointed by this Court,² confirmed as much: "After careful review of the record and the parties' arguments, we see no basis to disturb the jury's verdict. The issues raised by Hyundai concern evidentiary matters that were committed to the trial court's discretion." *Vanderventer v. Hyundai Motor America*, 2022 WI App 56, ¶3.

¹ Available at https://www.wisbar.org/NewsPublications/Pages/General-Article.aspx?ArticleID=1255 (last visited December 8, 2022).

^{2(5/9/22} Substitution Order.)

Moreover, each of these submissions leans heavily into grossly exaggerated rhetoric about the substance and impact of the rulings at issue, seizing and further expanding upon Hyundai's numerous overstatements, embellishments, and plain false statements about what was decided below. A cynic might view these submissions as a coordinated effort to amplify a false narrative. Whether they are meant to intentionally bolster fictitious claims about the lower courts' holdings or these special interest groups have been led astray by Hyundai's misstatements, there is no question that they do not accurately recite the issues in this case or the record supporting the lower courts' decisions. When the record and the court of appeals' decision is considered comprehensively and objectively, there is no legitimate concern over erroneous application of law that would impact future cases.

These submissions do not demonstrate a need for further review, because: (1) these groups raise issues that Hyundai did not appeal, (2) handwringing over discretionary decisions based on a unique record is unwarranted, and (3) the Legislature's proposed submission supports the court of appeals' decision and shows why further review is unnecessary.

I. These submissions do not justify granting review because the amicus parties raise issues that Hyundai did not appeal.

It seems axiomatic that amicus submissions raising issues that were not appealed are not helpful to the Court in considering whether to accept the petition, because those issues will not be heard even if review is granted. Some examples are as follows:

A. Hyundai did not appeal any damages issues.

Some submissions raise concern over the size of the verdict. That concern is misplaced because Hyundai has not appealed any damages issues and has therefore conceded the damages are commensurate with Vanderventer's horrific injuries. *White v. City of Watertown*, 2019 WI 9, n.5, 385 Wis.2d 320, 325, 922

N.W.2d 61 (internal citations omitted) ("[A]n issue... not raised on appeal, is deemed abandoned").

Regardless, the record alleviates any such concern because the injuries were catastrophic (Resp. to Petition, p.11) and the largest component of the damages awarded were for past and future medical and care expenses – which is why Hyundai found no grounds to appeal. (R1485.)

Purported concern over juror sympathy, large verdicts, and "deep pockets justice" is unfounded. Unlike some states, there is no concern in Wisconsin that juries will treat "deep pockets" defendants as insurers because juries are not told the effect of the verdict and are instructed to answer questions based on the evidence regardless of their answers to other questions. *McGowan v. Story*, 70 Wis.2d 189, 196, 234 N.W.2d 325 (1975); (R1777:20.) Wisconsin courts "assume that a jury follows the instructions given by the trial court." *Ford Motor Co. v. Lyons*, 137 Wis.2d 397, 457, 405 N.W.2d 354 (Ct.App.1987). Here, the jury was properly instructed to disregard sympathy, evaluate witness credibility, and hold Vanderventer to the burden of proof. (R1777:6-8,13-18,20-23,32.) No damages issue exists here.

B. Hyundai did not object to, much less appeal, admission of Sazcalski's demonstrative exhibit showing the maximum deformation of the injurious posts.

AAI criticizes admission of a demonstrative exemplar seat created by Saczalski that showed the maximum deformation of the guides. (R875.) However, *Hyundai had "no objection" to the admission of that exhibit at trial or and never appealed any issue related to its admission*. (R1763:18,124,148; Hyundai Ct. App. Brief; Petition for Review.) Any issue relating to this demonstrative exhibit was waived and not subject to potential review here. *State v. Cameron*, 2016 WI App 54, ¶12, 370 Wis.2d 661, 885 N.W.2d 611 (party must object at trial to preserve appellate issue); *Adams Outdoor Advert. v. City of Madison*, 2018 WI 70, n.8, 382 Wis.2d 377, 914 N.W.2d 660 (courts decline to address new issues

"raised for the first time in an amicus brief, as...not properly before us....")
(internal citations omitted.)

C. Hyundai's "DISH theory," rejected by the jury, is not at issue here.

WLF regurgitates disputed claims from Hyundai's experts that Vanderventer's paralysis was caused by a degenerative condition, "DISH," which was rejected by the jury. (Proposed brief, p. 3.) Nothing related to the "DISH theory" has been appealed. (*See* Hyundai PFR.) WLF presents disputed, failed defense theories as established fact ignoring established precedent that the evidence must be viewed in light most favorable to the verdict. *Zartner v. Scopp*, 28 Wis.2d 205, 209, 137 N.W.2d 107 (1965).

The DISH theory has nothing to do with the *Daubert* challenges at issue and was contrary to the physical evidence. WLF omits that in testimony *not subject to any Daubert challenge*, Dr. Kurpad concluded that "DISH was [a] comorbidity, not causal," and a DISH fracture was "impossible" (R1787:72,81.) Kurpad explained in great detail how the pattern of the fracture, Vanderventer's lack of pre-existing symptoms, his flexibility, his bone strength, and surgical findings showed definitively that Vanderventer's paralyzing injury was not a DISH fracture. (R1773:146;R1787:44-46,60-61,102-03,109-12; R1774:39,43-46;R1770:160.) WLF further ignores that a rear passenger, who also had a degenerative back condition, who Hyundai's experts admitted was in the most vulnerable position in the vehicle, was uninjured because the posts in her seat did not deform toward her spine. (R1761:143-44,149-150;R1762:47.) The debunked "DISH theory" is not at issue here.

D. Hyundai did not appeal any issue of expert "infallibility."

Without discussing any particular error, the Chamber implicitly argues that because Vanderventer prevailed, there must have been an error in admission of Vanderventer's expert proof. (Chamber Brief, p. 10.) This outcome-driven analysis apparently advocates that legitimate personal injury claims like this one should be an exercise in futility for tort victims, and a just plaintiffs' verdict is

conclusive proof of error. Perhaps understandably, the Chamber wishes to support its member businesses like Hyundai, but its perspective cannot square with Wisconsin law, which allows seriously injured tort victims, like Vanderventer, to make such claims.

The record in this case eviscerates the Chamber's arguments that experts are "accompanied by 'an aura of scientific infallibility" and jurors "accept [expert testimony] without critical scrutiny." (Chamber Brief, p. 10). These claims are based on the obviously flawed premise that studies of large verdicts show that plaintiffs in such cases presented expert testimony. (*Id.*) Of course that is true, because in complex cases (and almost all personal injury cases), the plaintiff is *required* to present expert testimony to meet the burden of proof.

This non-sensical "infallibility" argument ignores the record in this case where *Hyundai itself called five well-credentialed experts* to counter Saczalski and Kurpad. Hyundai also cross-examined both Kurpad and Saczalski, literally for days. Definitively demonstrating that the Chamber's proposition is not true in this case, during deliberations, the jury asked to view the physical evidence from the crash: the subject seat with the deformed hollow tube and posts pointing toward Vanderventer's back, and that seat foam containing permanent witness marks where it had been crushed between the injurious posts and Vanderventer's back. (R1777:37-43.) This request demonstrates that the jury did not just accept the experts' testimony but instead viewed the physical evidence itself. That the jury found Vanderventer's proof, which included undisputed physical evidence of the defect and its forceful impact with Vanderventer's back at the level of his paralyzing injury, more credible is not a basis for review. (R1763:134-137,145; R.1772:8.)

E. AAI's argument that Vanderventer's proof was insufficient to meet its burden was not appealed by Hyundai.

To the extent AAI is arguing that the Court can use this case to clarify the quantum of proof necessary to succeed in a products liability case, that issue was

not appealed by Hyundai. Hyundai only took issue with four claimed evidentiary errors that have been thoroughly discussed in the prior submissions. This case presents no opportunity for evaluating the type or quantum of proof necessary for plaintiffs to meet their burden.

F. PLAC's confusion over what Wis. Stat. §§895.047(4) and 904.07 govern was not appealed by Hyundai.

PLAC is apparently confused in claiming that §§895.047(4) and 904.07 conflict, and that the Court should not have allowed evidence of impeachment under §904.07 as a result. Plaintiffs have a right to bring both strict products liability and negligence claims (as Vanderventer did) under Wisconsin law. The products liability statute left negligence claims undisturbed:

"INAPPLICABILITY. This section does not apply to actions based on a claim of negligence or breach of warranty." §895.047(1)(a). Section 895.047(4) deals with admission of "subsequent remedial measures" evidence pertinent to strict products liability claims, while §904.07 relates to admission in negligence actions. There is no conceivable conflict or overlap between the two.

Regardless, Hyundai has not argued at any stage of this proceeding that there is a conflict between these statutes as PLAC does. To the contrary, Hyundai now concedes that evidence of the AD was properly admitted under §904.07's impeachment exception but instead challenges the order of proof. (Resp. to Petition, p.29-32.)

II. The proposed amicus submissions ignore the record in favor of misleading platitudes.

These amicus parties seize and expand on Hyundai's misstatements of the record. Embellishment is not helpful to this Court's analysis of whether this case is appropriate for review. Careful review of the court of appeals' decision and the record reveals no legitimate cause for apprehension that the law will be misapplied in future cases. Several examples follow:

A. Hyundai admitted that its vehicle should have protected Mr. Vanderventer in this moderate severity crash.

AAI's portrayal of the crash as "horrific," an apparent attempt to absolve Hyundai of blame for Vanderventer's injuries, ignores Hyundai's admission that this was only a moderate severity crash. In fact, *Hyundai admitted that its vehicle design should have protected occupants from serious injury in this moderate crash*. (R1769:51-52; R.1787:213-214; 1763:150.) It did not.

In rear-end accidents, the rear passengers closer to the impact are most susceptible to injuries. (R1787:77). The rear portion of the Elantra absorbed energy as designed, preventing intrusion into the occupant space. (R1763:43-44; R.1787:185-86,192-94.) Hyundai's admissions, coupled with the fact only Vanderventer was paralyzed while the other three passengers walked away with minor injuries (R1761:143-44,149-150; R1787:188-194), demonstrates the falsity of AAI's assertions.

B. The *Daubert* standard is well-established and was applied by the lower courts.

The 2011 adoption of the *Daubert*³ standard and its application is now well-established in Wisconsin jurisprudence. Wis. Stat. §907.02; *In re Commitment of Jones*, 2018 WI 44, ¶¶7-8, 381 Wis.2d 284, 911 N.W.2d 97. Since its adoption, numerous Wisconsin cases have addressed application of §907.02, including *Commitment of Jones*. In fact, a Westlaw search for "Daubert v. Merrell" returns 187 hits, 10 in the past year alone. The standard is sufficiently well-settled in Wisconsin that most of the 2021 and 2022 appellate court cases were not worthy of publication. In short, application of §907.02 is no longer a novel issue in Wisconsin.

Arguing that the lower courts "continue to ignore" and "openly side-stepped" *Daubert*, willfully disregards their decisions and is disrespectful. *Vanderventer*, 2022 WI App 56, ¶¶31, 33, 35, 54-56. The circuit court judge

³ Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, 509 U.S. 570 (1993).

presiding over this case, the Hon. Eugene A. Gasiorkiewicz, is particularly well-versed in *Daubert* issues. As he mentioned during the trial, he has lectured throughout Wisconsin in training judges regarding *Daubert*. (R1767:7; P.App.0143.) He was also the author of an article on the evolution of the *Daubert* standard, published in the 2018 Summer edition of the American Bar Association's Judicial Division newsletter, "*Should We Continue to Allow Opinion Testimony to a 'Reasonable Scientific Certainty?*" He also gave a presentation to the Racine County Bar Association on February 19, 2020, on *Daubert in Wisconsin: Scientific Evidence or Junk Science*. Judge Gasiorkiewicz's extensive knowledge of *Daubert* enabled him to properly apply \$907.02 when considering the expert testimony in this case.

The appellate court's decision correctly explained the history of the *Daubert* amendment to §907.02 and accurately set forth the well-established law regarding admissibility under that standard. *Vanderventer*, 2022 WI App 56, ¶¶54-56. Thus, there is no *Daubert* issue meriting further review.

C. Vanderventer's experts gave testimony within their respective disciplines.

These groups latch on to Hyundai's false argument that Kurpad and Saczalski were permitted to provide causation opinions in each other's disciplines. These arguments were born out of a strategic effort by Hyundai to mischaracterize each's opinions so that Vanderventer would be left without any causation testimony to meet the burden of proof. That disingenuous effort was rejected by both lower courts. *Vanderventer*, 2022 WI App 56, ¶¶71-79.

The court of appeals did not hold that medical doctors can give biomechanical opinions or biomechanical experts can give medical opinions. While demonstrating their understanding of the proper scope of a physician's causation testimony under §907.02, both lower courts confirmed Kurpad relied on

⁴ Available at http://www.racinelawyers.com/news-and-postings/february-lunch-and-a-cle-daubert-presentation (last visited December 27, 2021).

Saczalski to provide the biomechanical information: "He gets information on the biomechanics from somebody else, takes that into consideration, and makes a causation connection." (R1757:23-32,159-160;R1787:58-60,R1778:86-91); *Vanderventer*, 2022 WI App 56, ¶¶70-74. Kurpad stated at least *six times* that he gave his causation opinion as a "treating surgeon" based on "evidence derived from the surgical procedure, direct observations, the anatomy of the fracture and the imaging." (R1757:159-160; R1787:30,65,86,92-93,110,126.) *Vanderventer*, 2022 WI App 56, ¶71.

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